IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 19-2011

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellant,

vs.

DEAONSY SMITH, JR.,
Defendant-Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR DUBUQUE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE MONICA L. ZRINYI WITTIG, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

TIMOTHY M. HAU
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
tim.hau@ag.iowa.gov

C.J. MAY
Dubuque County Attorney

BRIGIT A. BARNES
Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

FINAL

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Whether the district court erred in dismissing the State's prosecution.

Authorities

Hoffa v. United States, 385 U.S. 293 (1966)
United States v. Lovasco, 431 U.S. 783 (1977)
United States v. Marion, 404 U.S. 307 (1971)
Cashen v. State, No. 16–0038, 2016 WL 6637470
(Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 9, 2016)
Ennenga v. State, 812 N.W.2d 696 (Iowa 2012)
State v. Barnhart, No. 09–1726, 2010 WL 3503415
(Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 9, 2010)
State v. Bartlett, No. 17–1170, 2018 WL 3301830
(Iowa Ct. App. July 5, 2018)
State v. Beeks, 428 N.W.2d 307 (Iowa Ct. App. 1988)
State v. Boelman, 330 N.W.2d 794 (Iowa 1983)
State v. Brown, 656 N.W.2d 355 (Iowa 2003)
State v. Cooper, No. 10-0171, 2010 WL 3894481
(Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 6, 2010)
State v. Edwards, 571 N.W.2d 497 (Iowa 1997)
State v. Hall, 395 N.W.2d 640 (Iowa 1986)
State v. Isaac, 537 N.W.2d 786 (Iowa 1995)
State v. Penn-Kennedy, 862 N.W.2d 384 (Iowa 2015)
State v. Schneck, No. 09–1493, 2011 WL 1136278
(Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 30, 2011)
State v. Sunclades, 305 N.W.2d 491 (Iowa 1981)
State v. Trompeter, 555 N.W.2d 468 (Iowa 1996)
State v. Wagner, 410 N.W.2d 207 (Iowa 1987)
State v. Waters, 515 N.W.2d 562 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)
State v. Williams, 895 N.W.2d 856 (Iowa 2017)
Iowa Code § 232.45
Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.33(2)(b)
Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.33
Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.33(2)
Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.33(2)(a)

ROUTING STATEMENT

The State does not seek retention. This appeal can be decided based on existing legal principles and transfer to the Iowa Court of Appeals is appropriate. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3); *State v. Trompeter*, 555 N.W.2d 468, 470 (Iowa 1996); *State v. Edwards*, 571 N.W.2d 497, 501 (Iowa 1997); *State v. Waters*, 515 N.W.2d 562, 565-566 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994); *State v. Beeks*, 428 N.W.2d 307, 309 (Iowa Ct. App. 1988).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

The State appeals after the district court dismissed the State's prosecution against Deaonsy Smith. The Honorable Monica Zrinyi Wittig presided over the relevant proceedings.

Facts and Course of Proceedings

According to the minutes of testimony, on December 8, 2017, at approximately 11:30 p.m., Mary Baal stopped her automobile in front of her residence on West 17th Street in Dubuque, Iowa. 9/17/2019 Mins. of Test. p.1; Conf.App. 8. Outside her home, a man wearing a darkly colored skullcap, coat, and slacks was waving his arms to get her attention. *Id.* The man then approached her vehicle, and she rolled her driver and passenger side windows down to speak with

him. *Id.* The man opened the passenger side door, sat inside, and shut the door. *Id.* Inside the vehicle, the man asked for money to feed his grandchildren. *Id.* When Baal gave him \$20, he demanded more. *Id.* He told her he had a gun and would rape and shoot her. *Id.* He took her purse, emptied it, and then told Baal to drive to an ATM. *Id.* She did so, withdrawing \$200. *Id.* The man then ordered Baal to return to her apartment and show him where she lived. *Id.* He renewed his threats to rape or kill her if she called police, and ordered her to “pull down her pants so she couldn’t follow him out of the vehicle.” *Id.*

Surveillance footage from the banks was recovered. In the footage, an African-American man with a dark colored coat and skullcap can be seen. *Id.* at 2; Conf.App. 9. This individual can be seen wrenching what appeared to be a wallet from Baal’s hand. *Id.* Baal recalled that the individual was difficult to understand and had slanted teeth. *Id.* at 1; Conf.App. 8. She also recalled having a book lamp in the purse the man rifled through, or a different purse. *Id.* at 2; Conf.App. 9.

Earlier in the evening, a related disturbance occurred at 534 Lincoln Avenue in Dubuque. *Id.* at 3; Conf.App. 10. At that time, a stocky African American man had entered the residence attempting

to sell a video game system and insisting he had “kids to feed.” *Id.* Police obtained city traffic camera footage. This footage depicted the man entering and leaving the 534 Lincoln residence and traveling towards West 17th Street. *Id.* A reviewing police officer recognized the man in the footage as Deaonsy Smith, Jr. from a prior encounter. *Id.*

Smith was taken into custody on a different matter on December 22, 2017. *Id.* Police attempted to speak with Smith. They observed his mumbling speech pattern and teeth were consistent with Baal’s description. *Id.* DNA testing comparing Smith’s samples with Baal’s vehicle were inconclusive. *Id.* Baal was shown a photographic lineup but was uncertain. *Id.* A book lamp was in his possession at the time he was booked. *Id.*

On August 7, 2018, the State filed a criminal complaint alleging Smith had committed Robbery in the second degree in violation of Iowa Code section 711.3 (2019). 8/7/2018 Complaint; Conf.App. 5. The district court issued an order for an arrest warrant the same day. 8/7/2018 Order to Issue; 8/8/2018 Warrant; App. 6–8.

Although the August 2018 arrest warrant had not been served, Smith on his own volition filed a written arraignment and plea of not guilty. 2/8/2019 Written Arraignment; App. 9–10. In it, he stated he

was located at the Fort Dodge Correctional Facility. *Id.* The district court rebuffed the filing, observing the State had not filed a trial information and that arraignment was premature under the rules of criminal procedure. 2/13/2019 Order; App. 11–12; *see generally* Iowa Code § 804.21; Iowa Rs. Crim. P. 2.8(1), 2.8(2)(a); 2.33(2)(a).

On February 21, 2019, Smith filed an application for the appointment of counsel, again indicating he was incarcerated in the Fort Dodge Correctional Facility. 2/21/2019 Application; App. 13–14. This filing was also rejected. The district court held Smith’s application would be addressed and counsel appointed when he appeared before the court pursuant to the arrest warrant. 3/5/2019 Order; App. 15–16.

On March 27, Smith filed a letter asserting his rights to a speedy trial under Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.33 and requesting “that an attorney be appointed and that he’ll be transported to the Dubuque County Court as soon as possible so this matter may be cleared up.” 3/27/2019 Letter; App. 19–20. Again, the district court took no action, and noted that from the filing “the State is aware of his whereabouts and is free to seek an order for transport.” 3/27/2019 Order; App. 19–20.

Smith filed a motion to dismiss “for lack of due process” on April 5. 4/5/2019 Motion to Dismiss; App. 21. In it, he renewed his request for transport to Dubuque County and further suggested that were the court to “refuse[] the Defendant his Right to a speedy trial and to be heard in this case within 45 days of receiving this Motion . . . the Court will lose jurisdiction for violating the Defendant’s Rights.” *Id.* The district court denied the motion. 4/23/2019 Order; App. 22–23.

On August 12, Smith filed a motion to dismiss the detainer that had been placed upon him arising from the warrant’s existence. 8/12/2019 Motion to Dismiss Detainer p.1, 3; App. 24, 26. Smith requested the court to set a hearing and find the State had not complied with Iowa Code 906.14—a code section relating to detainers. *Id.* at 1; App. 24. Despite the fact that the warrant had still not been served, the district court appointed Smith counsel on August 22. 8/22/2019 Order; 8/26/2019 Appearance; App. 27–29.

Smith’s counsel filed a motion to dismiss on August 28. 8/28/2019 Motion to Dismiss; App. 30–31. Smith alleged that “the whereabouts of the Defendant have been known for over 6 months” and that the State had failed to indict Smith within the 45-day

limitation imposed by Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.33(2)(a).

Id. The matter was set for hearing on September 12 and Smith was transported to Dubuque County. 9/5/2019 Motion for Transport; 9/9/2019 Order for Transportation; App. 32–35.

On September 12, Smith appeared for the hearing on his motion to dismiss and was served the Dubuque County warrant. 9/12/2019 Warrant Service; App. 38. Smith was then brought before the district court where a joint initial appearance and hearing on his motions to dismiss were heard. *See generally* 9/12/2019 Hearing Tr. To support his claim of prosecutorial delay, Smith referred the district court to *State v. Trompeter*, 555 N.W.2d 468 (Iowa 1996) and *State v. Brown*, 656 N.W.2d 355 (Iowa 2003). Counsel acknowledged “that there is some burden on us to raise an issue” and then offered the following explication of the prejudice Smith suffered from the delay:

It’s also been a hardship to Mr. Smith, but I think under this circumstance when the Court points out in one of its orders that Mr. Smith is in the Fort Dodge Correctional Facility and that the State can have him transported, I believe that was almost six months ago, and nothing was done, I think those things do create hardship. And I think the delay has been purposeful. It’s been to his detriment. *Exactly what detriment, I don’t know at this point, because I’ve not been able to meet that much*

with Mr. Smith regarding any possible defense he may have.

...

And we believe that is what has happened here. The delay has been unreasonable, and because of that delay, Mr. Smith's defense has been prejudiced and perhaps could be compromised. And given those circumstances, the charge of Robbery in the Second Degree which he's facing should be dismissed.

...

And in the meantime, the case gets older and older and memories fade. That's one of the main reasons why we have the speedy trial rule, is because that is a tool to the State and the Defendant, so the Defendant is not prejudiced by an undue delay. We recognize the fact that the statute of limitations, the charge was filed over a year ago, but they have known his whereabouts, and the delay is completely unconscionable.

9/12/2019 Hearing Tr. p.6 line 23–p.10 line 16 (emphasis added).

The State filed a written resistance to Smith's motion to dismiss on September 14. 9/14/2019 Resistance; App. 41–43. In the resistance, the State argued that *Brown* and *Trompeter* each required Smith to establish actual prejudice and that generalized claims would not meet this burden. 9/14/2019 Resistance p.2; App. 42. The State filed its trial information and minutes of testimony on September 17,

five days after Smith was served the warrant and arrested. 9/17/2019
Trial Inf.; 9/17/2019 Mins. of Test; App. 44–45; Conf.App. 8–12.

On October 31, the district court dismissed the prosecution. In
the order dismissing the case, the district court found

There is spoliation of evidence now. Witnesses’
memories have faded now. His ability to assert
an alibi has been extinguished. His ability to
defend the allegations has been compromised
or even destroyed due to the delay.

...

The State offered no reason why the complaint
was not filed in December of 2017. It offered no
justification for waiting to file the complaint
eight (8) months later. It offered no excuse for
not having the warrant executed while the
Defendant was in the custody of the Director of
Adult Corrections.

...

[T]he complaint filed herein is dismissed and
the prosecution must cease as the Defendant’s
preaccusatorial delay violated the Defendant’s
due process rights. His fifth amendment rights
have been violated. His speedy trial rights have
also been violated. The delay was
unconscionable based on the facts recited
herein.

10/31/2019 Dismissal Order p.2–3; App. 47–48.

The State filed a timely notice of appeal on December 2, 2019.
12/2/2019 Notice; App. 50.

ARGUMENT

I. Smith presented no evidence of prejudice. The district court erred in dismissing this case pursuant to the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.33(2).

Preservation of Error

Smith moved for dismissal on the grounds that the State failed to have a trial within speedy trial deadline as well as that the State failed to indict Smith within the forty-five-day deadline created by Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.33(2). 8/28/2019 Motion to Dismiss p.1–2; App. 30–31. The district court concluded the “prosecution must cease” and dismissed the case on both due process and right to speedy trial rationales. 10/31/2019 Dismissal Order p.3; App. 46–49. Error was preserved.

Standard of Review

Review of the district court’s determination that Smith’s constitutional right to due process is reviewed de novo. *See Trompeter*, 555 N.W.2d at 470; *State v. Edwards*, 571 N.W.2d 497, 501 (Iowa 1997). Review of the district court’s determination the State violated Smith’s right to speedy indictment under Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.33(2) is for errors at law. *Edwards*, 571 N.W.2d at 499.

Merits

The district court concluded the State's delay in filing a trial information against Smith while he was incarcerated in another correctional facility violated the Fifth Amendment and Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.33. It was incorrect on both counts and the State addresses each in turn.

A. To establish a Fifth Amendment violation, Smith was required to establish “actual prejudice.” He did not meet this heavy burden and the district court erred in granting relief.

The district court found the delay in serving a warrant and filing the trial information violated Smith's due process rights under the Fifth Amendment. 10/31/2019 Dismissal Order p.2–3; App. 47–48. This is not so.

“There is no constitutional right to be arrested and charged at the precise moment probable cause comes into existence.”

Trompeter, 555 N.W.2d at 470 (citing *Hoffa v. United States*, 385 U.S. 293, 310, 87 S. Ct. 408, 417, 17 L. Ed. 2d 374, 386 (1966)).

“[P]rosecutors are under no duty to file charges as soon as probable cause exists but before they are satisfied that they will be able to establish the suspect's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.” *United States v. Lovasco*, 431 U.S. 783, 791 (1977). The statute of limitations

is the primary protection against delayed indictment on state criminal charges. *State v. Sunclades*, 305 N.W.2d 491, 494 (Iowa 1981) overruled on other grounds by *State v. Williams*, 895 N.W.2d 856 (Iowa 2017) (citing *United States v. Marion*, 404 U.S. 307, 322-25 (1971)). A defendant's due process rights are violated where the government delays filing charges intentionally to create a tactical advantage over the accused. *Trompeter*, 555 N.W.2d at 470.

In alleging a delayed indictment due process violation, the “heavy burden” was on Smith to establish both that “(1) the defendant's defense suffered actual prejudice due to a delay in prosecution and (2) the delay causing such prejudice was unreasonable.” *See Brown*, 656 N.W.2d at 363, 363 n.6. The court examines whether the defendant has established prejudice, turning then to the reasons for the delay. *See Edwards*, 571 N.W.2d at 501 (citing *Trompeter*, 555 N.W.2d at 470). “If prejudice is not established, our inquiry ends.” *Id.*; *see also State v. Schneck*, No. 09–1493, 2011 WL 1136278, at *4–*5 (Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 30, 2011) (finding that although there was “some appeal” to defendant's argument that State's purpose in delaying charges was improper,

failure to satisfy burden of demonstrating actual prejudice meant further inquiry was unnecessary).

And Smith's burden is to establish *actual* prejudice. *Edwards*, 571 N.W.2d at 501. "The standard is stringent." *Id.* General claims of prejudice or speculation as to the detriment the delay may have caused is insufficient. *Id.* The reviewing court will not fill any void in the evidence by indulging in presumptions favorable to the defendant. *See State v. Isaac*, 537 N.W.2d 786, 788 (Iowa 1995). Establishing actual prejudice requires the defendant to prove a loss of evidence or testimony has meaningfully impaired his ability to present a defense. *Id.* Even expert testimony on the potential prejudice that results from lost evidence does not satisfy this standard. *See Brown*, 656 N.W.2d at 363. "If the defendant is asserting witnesses are missing as a result of the delay, he must show the witnesses would have provided material evidence for the defense." *State v. Hall*, 395 N.W.2d 640, 643 (Iowa 1986). And this prejudice must also be the result of the State's "intentional attempt to gain a tactical advantage by delaying the initiation of charges." *State v. Wagner*, 410 N.W.2d 207, 210 (Iowa 1987).

This well-established standard requires this Court to correct the district court's error. Dismissal was unwarranted because Smith proved neither element. Smith offered no evidence of prejudice. At all. 9/12/2019 Hearing Tr. p.4 line 1–20. The only assertions of prejudice Smith made at the hearing were the same sort of speculation the United States Supreme Court, the Iowa Supreme Court, and the Iowa Court of Appeals have each rejected. *Compare* 8/12/2019 Hearing Tr. p.5 line 7–15; p.8 line 8–13; p.10 line 4–13 *with Marion*, 404 U.S. at 323–26 (“Appellees rely solely on the real possibility of prejudice inherent in any extended delay: that memories will dim, witnesses become inaccessible, and evidence be lost. In light of the applicable statute of limitations, however, these possibilities are not in themselves enough to demonstrate that appellees cannot receive a fair trial and to therefore justify the dismissal of the indictment.”); *see also Edwards*, 571 N.W.2d at 501–02, 502 n.4 (finding that Edwards failed to meet burden to establish due process violation and specifically observing that the record did not support district court's conclusions); *Brown*, 656 N.W.2d at 363 (defense expert's generalized claims and belief Brown was prejudiced by delay were “too general to support a finding of actual prejudice”); *and State*

v. Barnhart, No. 09–1726, 2010 WL 3503415, at *3–*4 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 9, 2010) (reversing district court dismissal on due process grounds where defendant presented “no evidence to show he was prejudiced by the delay”).

Smith’s attorney acknowledged at the hearing he could not identify what prejudice the delay had produced: “I think the delay has been purposeful. It’s been to his detriment. Exactly what detriment, I don’t know at this point, because I’ve not been able to meet that much with Mr. Smith regarding any potential defenses he may have.”

8/12/2019 Hearing Tr. p.7 line 6–10. This was fatal to any preaccusation delay. And it bears noting that when Smith became aware of the existence of the State’s warrant, he took action.

2/8/2019 Arraignment; 2/21/2019 Application for Counsel; 3/27/2019 Motion for Counsel; 4/5/2019 Motion to Dismiss; App. 9–10, 13–14, 19–20, 21. Aware of the charge, Smith also could have started contacting potential witnesses, preparing his defense.

Given the non-existent record of actual prejudice, the district court’s ruling had no evidence to support its conclusions there was spoliation of evidence or that witnesses’ memories had faded.

Compare 9/12/2019 Hearing Tr. p.6 line 23–p.10 line 16 *with*

10/31/2019 Dismissal Order p.3; App. 48. There was nothing presented that would permit the court to conclude Smith could not assert an alibi or defend the State’s accusation. *Id.* Its grant of relief was erroneous. Because no actual prejudice has been shown, examination of the reason for the delay is unnecessary. *See Schneck*, 2011 WL 1136278, at *5. This Court should reverse and remand the matter for reinstatement and trial.

B. Until Smith was brought to Dubuque County, he was not “arrested” for purposes of the speedy indictment right conferred by Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.33.

The district court also dismissed the prosecution on belief the State violated Smith’s rights under Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.33. 10/31/2019 Dismissal Order p.3; App. 48. Again, the district court was mistaken. Smith was not arrested until the day the Dubuque County warrant was served—September 12. Accordingly, Rule 2.33 was not applicable prior to this time.

Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.33 creates a more “stringent” right to speedy indictment and trial than is provided for under the Federal and Iowa Constitutions. *See, e.g., Ennenga v. State*, 812 N.W.2d 696, 701 (Iowa 2012). The text of rule 2.33(2)(a) controls speedy indictment and provides that

When an adult is arrested for the commission of a public offense, or, in the case of a child, when the juvenile court enters an order waiving jurisdiction pursuant to Iowa Code section 232.45, and an indictment is not found against the defendant within 45 days, the court must order the prosecution to be dismissed, unless good cause to the contrary is shown or the defendant waives the defendant's right thereto.

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