IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,)
)
 Plaintiff–Appellant,)
)
 v.) S.CT. NO. 19–2011
)
 DEAONSY SMITH, JR.,)
)
 Defendant–Appellee.)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR DUBUQUE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE MONICA L. ZRINYI WITTIG, JUDGE

APPELLEE’S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT
AND
ORAL ARGUMENT

MARTHA J. LUCEY
State Appellate Defender

MARY K. CONROY
Assistant Appellate Defender
mconroy@spd.state.ia.us
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER
Fourth Floor Lucas Building
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT–APPELLEE

FINAL

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

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

State was put on actual notice of not only of Smith's whereabouts of Smith's whereabouts but also the fact that he was trying to effectuate his right to a speedy trial. (Written Arraignment; Order Dismissal) (App. pp. 9, 47–48). Yet, the State delayed arresting Smith and bringing him into court for a speedy trial. (Return Service) (App. p. 38). Accordingly, this factor should be heavily weighed against the State and for a finding that Smith's right to a speedy trial was violated. See Zimmerman v. Super. Ct., 56 Cal. Rptr. 226, 231 (Cal Ct. App. 1967) (finding the State deprived the defendant of his constitutional right to a speedy trial after it neglected to bring him to trial within a reasonable time after receiving the prisoner's request for a trial on the charges); see also Daughterty v. Solicitor for Highland Cnty., 267 N.E.2d 431 (Ohio 1971) (per curiam) ("Where an inmate in a penal institution has made a diligent, good-faith effort to call to the attention of the proper authorities . . . that he desires a charge pending against him in that state disposed of, by trial or dismissal, he is entitled to have such request acted upon. The

failure of the authorities to do so constitutes the denial of a speedy trial.”).

The U.S. Supreme Court also noted that the second factor—the reason for the delay—is closely related to the length of the delay. Barker, 407 U.S. at 531. The Court noted that a “deliberate attempt to delay the trial in order to hamper the defense should be weighted heavily against the government” while “a more neutral reason such as negligence or overcrowded courts should be weighted less heavily but nevertheless should be considered.” Id. In this case, the district court correctly noted that the State gave no reason for why it had delayed filing the criminal complaint, nor did the State give any explanation why it refused to serve the arrest warrant on Smith. See Olson, 528 N.W.2d at 654 (“[T]he reason for the delay dealt solely with the failure of the State to execute the arrest warrant. The circumstances surrounding the failure to execute the warrant are not favorable to the State in the analysis.”). Moreover, as discussed above, this was not a case where the prosecution was delayed because the

State was still investigating the crime. See Barker, 407 U.S. at 531 (noting the State may be able to justify a long delay for a complex case more readily than a an “ordinary street crime”).

In a case such as this, where the State fails to give any explanation for the delay, the Court should presume a deliberate attempt to hamper the defense. It is extremely unlikely that the State would ever admit to delaying the prosecution in an attempt to hamper the defense, so the fact that the State remained silent is telling. Moreover, the record indicates more than mere negligence on the part of the State. First, Smith was in the custody of the State of Iowa at the time the criminal complaint was filed. Not only was he in the State of Iowa’s custody, he was incarcerated due to charges *prosecuted by Dubuque County*. The police department knew where Smith was and put a detainer on him. (Mot. Dismiss Detainer) (App. p. 26). The county attorney’s office was also specifically reminded of Smith’s whereabouts when it received a copy of his filings on EDMS. (Order Dismissal) (App. p. 47). The State should have checked to see if Smith was in custody

when the arrest warrant issued. The failure to do so may be mere negligence. However, the State's inaction in this case, despite clearly knowing where Smith was and his attempts to effectuate his rights, and the State's failure to even weakly defend its actions, should be heavily weighed against the State and for a finding that Smith's right to a speedy trial was violated.

The third factor—the defendant's assertion of his speedy trial rights—also heavily weighs in favor of finding a violation of the Sixth Amendment. The Supreme Court has identified that the framers were trying to protect three separate interests of criminal defendants with the right to a speedy trial: (1) “to prevent oppressive pretrial incarceration;” (2) “to minimize anxiety and concern of the accused; and” (3) “to limit the possibility that the defense will be impaired.” *Id.* at 532.

Here, Smith adamantly and repeatedly invoked his right to a speedy trial. (Written Arraignment; Letter; Mot. Dismiss Lack Due Process; Mot. Dismiss Detainer) (App. pp. 9, 17, 21, 24); see Hottle, 11 N.W.2d at 32 (noting a person that has not been

arrested may demand his constitutional right to a speedy trial). The courts give this factor particular weight in their analysis; it is the most important consideration of the test. See, e.g., Barker, 404 N.W.2d at 534 (noting that the fact that the defendant did not want a speedy trial was “[m]ore important than the absence of serious prejudice”); Doggett, 505 U.S. at 653–54 (noting if the defendant knew of the indictment and did not invoke his speedy trial right it would weigh heavily against him but noting the government’s concession that the defendant was not aware of the indictment prior to his arrest).

The last factor the Court examines is prejudice to the defendant. “Affirmative proof of a particular type of prejudice is not required” Olson, 528 N.W.2d at 654 (citing Doggett, 505 U.S. at 655). This principle is in recognition that the prejudice that “results from an impaired defense is the most difficult type of speedy trial prejudice to prove because the harm associated with the passage of time can scarcely be shown.” Id. Accordingly, the Court recognizes that an

extensive delay “presumptively compromises the reliability of a trial in ways that neither party can prove or, for that matter, identify.” Doggett, 505 U.S. 647 at 655. Here, Smith was prejudiced by the impairment of his defense “due to diminished memories and loss of exculpatory evidence.” Olson, 528 N.W.2d at 654 (citation omitted). “This form of prejudice is actually considered the most serious since the inability of an accused to adequately prepare his or her case ‘skews the fairness of the entire system.’” Id. Additionally, Smith was prejudiced to the extent he lost the possibility of receiving concurrent sentences and was delayed in being paroled, as discussed above. The Iowa Supreme Court has noted:

At first blush it might appear that a man already in prison under a lawful sentence is hardly in a position to suffer from “undue and oppressive incarceration prior to trial.” But the fact is that delay in bringing such a person to trial on a pending charge may ultimately result in as much oppression as is suffered by one who is jailed without bail upon an untried charge. First, the possibility that the defendant already in prison might receive a sentence at least partially concurrent with the one he is

serving may be forever lost if trial of the pending charge is postponed.

Bass, 320 N.W.2d at 831 (quoting Smith v. Hooey, 393 U.S. 374, 378 (1969)). The impact of prejudice “grows with the length of the delay involved in the case, and the reason for the delay.” Olson, 528 N.W.2d at 664 (citation omitted). Here, the State gave no justification for the substantial delay in this case.

The record establishes there was a substantial delay, the State did not even attempt to put forth any reason for the delay, Smith asserted his right to a speedy trial, and Smith was prejudiced. See Barker, 407 U.S. at 530. In weighing the conduct of the State and Smith, the district court correctly found that the State violated Smith’s right to a speedy trial under the Sixth Amendment.

b. Article I, section 10 of the Iowa Constitution

Article I, section 10 of the Iowa Constitution provides:

In all criminal prosecutions, and in cases involving the life, or liberty of an individual the accused shall have a right to a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury; to be informed of the accusation

against him, to have a copy of the same when demanded; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for his witnesses; and, to have the assistance of counsel.

Iowa Const. art. I, § 10. This provision's purpose is "to correct the imbalance between the position of the accused and the powerful forces of the State in a criminal prosecution." State v. Newsom, 414 N.W.2d 354, 359 (Iowa 1987). "Two of [Iowa's] earliest cases noted that the framers intended article I, section 10 to provide rights to criminal defendants who are at risk of incarceration." State v. Senn, 882 N.W.2d 1, 10–11 (Iowa 2016). In order to effectuate this purpose, the Iowa Supreme Court has broadly construed section 10. Newsom, 414 N.W.2d at 359; Green, 896 N.W.2d at 775 n.1 (noting that the textual difference and the inclusion of the "cases portion" of section 10 supports the proposition it provides broader rights than the Sixth Amendment).

Even if the Sixth Amendment's protections did not apply to Smith, the protections of article I, section 10 would because Smith was accused at the time of the filing of the criminal

complaint. “Plainly and indisputably, the language of article I, section 10 is more expansive than the “all criminal prosecutions” language of the Sixth Amendment.” Allison v. State, 914 N.W.2d 866, 884 (Iowa 2018). The broader “cases” language, along with “accused”, of the Iowa constitutional provision establish the provision applies to Smith under these circumstances. See Green, 896 N.W.2d 770 (“Furthermore, we recognize that the “cases” language of article I, section 10 reflects that the right[s contained within] can exist even without the filing of formal or informal charges.”). Other states have determined that a defendant is entitled to the protections of the state’s constitutional speedy trial provision after a criminal complaint is filed. See, e.g., Jacobson v. Winter, 415 P.2d 297 (Idaho 1966); Commonwealth v. Butler, 985 N.E.2d 377, 712 (Mass. 2013); see also Turner v. United States, 885 F.3d 949, 958–59 (6th Cir. 2018) (Bush, J., concurring dubitante) (noting that founding-era dictionaries support the conclusion that framers understood “accused” to have a broader meaning than indicted).

In considering a similar fact pattern to this case, the Idaho Supreme Court found the incarcerated individual was denied a speedy trial under the Idaho Constitution. Jacobson, 415 P.2d at 297–300. Criminal complaints against the individual were filed on March 6, 1964, approximately a week after the crimes’ commission in Elmore County. Id. at 298. Meanwhile, a different county in Idaho arrested the individual on a probation violation, and he went to prison on that violation. Id. On July 24, 1964, Elmore County officials filed a “hold” order² on the individual. Id. While in prison, the man wrote two letters to the State requesting that he be given a speedy trial on September 24, 1964 and December 18, 1964. Id. The individual was only arrested on February 24, 1965 after the district court authorized the transport of the prisoner to Elmore County. Id. The Idaho Supreme Court stated:

Our constitutional provision makes no distinctions as to type of cases in which the right to speedy trial is guaranteed, but provides it for ‘all criminal prosecutions.’ It further provides that the ‘party accused’ is granted this right. A party is accused

² A “hold order” appears to be the equivalent of the detainer filed against Smith in this case.

when a criminal complaint is filed against him. Under the constitutional provisions no logical conclusion can be reached other than that the time within which an accused is to be secured in his right to a speedy trial must be computed from the time the complaint is filed against him.

Id. at 300 (internal citations omitted). The Court then went on to find that when the State knows the whereabouts of the defendant, that time should be considered in determining whether the defendant was afforded a speedy trial. Id. The Court affirmed the district court's dismissal of the defendant's charges, noting that there was nothing in the record that explained why there was almost an entire year between the filing of the criminal complaints and the defendant's arrest.

Id.

Smith's case is indistinguishable to the case considered by the Idaho Supreme Court. The Iowa Supreme Court has stated:

The right to a speedy trial is not a theoretical or abstract right but one rooted in hard reality in the need to have charges promptly exposed. If the case for the prosecution calls on the accused to meet charges rather than rest on the infirmities of the prosecution's case, as is the defendant's right, the

time to meet them is when the case is fresh. Stale claims have never been favored by the law, and far less so in criminal cases. Although a great many accused persons seek to put off the confrontation as long as possible, the right to a prompt inquiry into criminal charges is fundamental and the duty of the charging authority is to provide a prompt trial.

Gorham, 206 N.W.2d at 910 (citation omitted). In this case, Smith attempted to meet the prosecution's case once he discovered a criminal complaint accused him of a crime. It was his right to do so, and it was the duty of the State to provide him with a prompt trial; a duty it disregarded. See id. The State should bear the burden of its failure to pursue the charges, not a defendant who actively attempted to resolve the charges. If the purpose of section 10 is to correct the imbalance between Smith and the State, it must be applied in order to allow for Smith to invoke its protections, including the right to a speedy trial, once the State has filed a criminal complaint against him, thus accusing him of a crime and beginning the criminal prosecution. See Newsom, 414 N.W.2d at 359. Thus, this Court should affirm the district court's

dismissal because the State violated Smith’s right to a speedy trial under article I, section 10.

c. Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.33(2)

Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.33(2) “implements the speedy trial guarantees found in both the State and Federal Constitutions.” Ennenga v. State, 812 N.W.2d 696, 698 (Iowa 2012). In part, it provides:

2.33(2) *Speedy trial*. It is the public policy of the state of Iowa that criminal prosecutions be concluded at the earliest possible time consistent with a fair trial to both parties. Applications for dismissals under this rule may be made by the prosecuting attorney or the defendant or by the court on its own motion.

a. When an adult is arrested for the commission of a public offense . . . and an indictment is not found against the defendant within 45 days, the court must order the prosecution to be dismissed, unless good cause to the contrary is shown or the defendant waives the defendant’s right thereto.

b. If a defendant indicted for a public offense has not waived the defendant’s right to a speedy trial the defendant must be brought to trial within 90 days after indictment is found or the court must order the indictment to be dismissed unless good cause to the contrary be shown.

c. All criminal cases must be brought to trial within one year after the defendant’s initial arraignment pursuant to rule 2.8 unless an extension is granted by the court, upon a showing of good cause.

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.33(1), (2) (2017). “Since 1851, the legislature has implemented this guarantee by requiring a court to dismiss a criminal prosecution when the State fails to indict [and try] an accused in a timely manner, unless the State can show good cause for that failure.” Ennenga v. State, 812 N.W.2d at 701. “The legislature reaffirmed its commitment to this principle in 1976, which was the same year the legislature authorized [the Supreme Court] to promulgate changes to the rules of procedure.” Id. (citations omitted). The language of the rule has not been altered since 1978. Compare Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.33 (2017), with Iowa R. Crim. P. 27 (1979).

The Iowa Supreme Court has repeatedly stated that the criminal rule of procedure is “more stringent than its constitutional counterpart recognized in Barker v. Wingo” State v. Miller, 637 N.W.2d 201, 204 (Iowa 2001) (citations omitted). As such, the Court does not analyze a rule 2.33 violation under Barker’s balancing test. Id. Rather, rule 2.33

requires dismissal unless “the defendant has waived speedy trial, the delay is attributable to the defendant, or other ‘good cause’ exists for the delay.” Miller, 637 N.W.2d at 204 (citation omitted). “The burden of proving an exception to the rule’s deadline rests squarely with the State.” Id.

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